# A by-law relating generally to the conduct of the affairs of MOORE PARK TENNIS CLUB

# (the "Corporation")

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

# **BY-LAW NO. 2**

## **Contents**

<b>ARTICLE</b>	1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	1
1.1	Definitions	1
1.2	Interpretation	2
ARTICLE	2 BOARD OF DIRECTORS	2
2.1	Number of Directors	2
2.2	Qualifications	3
2.3	Ex-officio Director	3
2.4	Directors Ceasing to Hold Office	3
2.5	Election and Term	4
2.6	Vacancies	4
2.7	Directors Compensation	4
2.8	Removal of Directors	
2.9	Appointment of Additional Directors	
2.10		
2.11		
2.12		
2.13		
2.14	Powers of Committees	5
ARTICLE	3 DIRECTORS' MEETINGS	5
3.1	Calling of Meetings	5
3.2	Notice of Meetings	6
3.3	Adjournment of Meetings	
3.4	Notice of Meeting by Telephonic or Electronic Means	
3.5	Quorum	
3.6	Meetings Held by Telephonic or Electronic Means	
3.7	Votes to Govern	
3.8	Casting Vote	
3.9	Resolution in Lieu of Meeting	
3.10	J	
3.11		
3.12	Procedure	8
ARTICLE	4 APPOINTMENT AND DUTIES OF OFFICERS	
4.1	Appointment of Officers	
4.2	Description of Offices	8

4.3	Variation of Duties	
4.4	Term of Officers	9
4.5	Remuneration	10
ARTICLE :	5 INDEMNIFICATION	10
5.1	Limitation of Liability	
5.2	Indemnity of Directors and Officers	
5.3	Insurance	
ARTICLE	6 MEMBERSHIP CONDITIONS	11
6.1	Three Membership Classes	
6.2	Term of Membership	
6.3	Transfer of Membership	
6.4	Membership Dues	
6.5	Good Standing	
6.6	Termination of Membership	
6.7	Discipline or Termination of a Member	
6.8	Procedure for Discipline, Suspension or Termination	
ADTICLE '	7 MEETINGS OF MEMBERS	
	Notice of Meetings	
7.1 7.2	Record Date	
7.2	Timing of Annual Meeting of Members	
7.3 7.4	Place of Meetings	
7. <del>4</del> 7.5	Information to be Furnished in Advance of Meeting	
7.5 7.6	Special Business	
7.0 7.7	Persons Entitled to be Present	
7.7	Chair of Meeting	
7.8 7.9	Quorum	
7.10	Votes to Govern	
7.10	Meetings Held by Telephonic or Electronic Means	
7.11	Voting by Members not in Attendance at a Meeting of Members	
7.12	Voting by Proxy	
7.13	Adjournment of Meetings	
7.14	Resolution in Lieu of Meeting	
7.16	Procedure Procedure	
	8 BANKING ARRANGEMENTS, CONTRACTS, ETC	
8.1	Execution of Documents	
8.2	Banking Arrangements	18
ARTICLE 9	O NOTICES	18
9.1	Giving Notice	
9.2	Telephonic or Electronic Notice	
9.3	Errors or Omissions	19
9.4	Computation of Time	
9.5	Undelivered Notices	
9.6	Waiver of Notice	20
ARTICLE	IO RV_I AW AMENDMENTS	20

10.1	By-laws, Amendment, or Repeal	20
10.2	Repeal	20
10.3	<u>=</u>	
ARTICLE 1	11 GENERAL	<b>2</b> 1
11.1	Corporate Seal	21
	Financial Year End	
11.3	Categorization under the Act	21
	Financial Review	
11.5	Policies	22
11.6	Invalidity of any Provision of This By-Law	22
11.7	·	

THE PURPOSE OF THIS BY-LAW IS TO SET OUT RULES AND PROCEDURES TO BE FOLLOWED BY THE CORPORATION IN THE GOVERNANCE OF ITS AFFAIRS. THE BY-LAW IS INTENDED TO APPLY TO THE MOST COMMON CORPORATE EVENTS AND GOVERNANCE PROCEDURES. CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE NOT-FOR-PROFIT CORPORATIONS ACT, 2010 (ONTARIO) AND REGULATIONS MADE UNDER IT (THE "ACT") HAVE BEEN INCORPORATED WHERE APPLICABLE.

HOWEVER, THIS BY-LAW IS NOT IN ITSELF A COMPLETE CODIFICATION OF THE PROVISIONS OF THE ACT AND OTHER LAWS APPLICABLE TO THE CORPORATION. MANY PROVISIONS OF THE ACT HAVE NOT BEEN INCORPORATED IN THE BY-LAW AND REFERENCE TO THE ACT SHOULD BE MADE TO ENSURE THAT ALL RELEVANT LEGAL REQUIREMENTS HAVE BEEN COMPLIED WITH.

**BE IT ENACTED** as a by-law of **Moore Park Tennis Club** (the "Corporation") as follows:

# ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

#### 1.1 **Definitions**

In this by-law and all other by-laws of the Corporation, unless the context otherwise requires:

- (a) "Act" means the *Not-for-Profit Corporations Act, 2010* (Ontario) S.O. 2010, c.15, including Regulations made pursuant to the Act, and any amendments, statutes or Regulations that may be substituted from time to time;
- (b) "Articles" means the original or restated articles of incorporation or articles of amendment, amalgamation, continuance, reorganization, arrangement, dissolution or revival of the Corporation or letters patent, supplementary letters patent or a special act issued to the Corporation;
- (c) "Auditor" means a person permitted to conduct an audit or review engagement of the Corporation under the *Public Accounting Act, 2004*, and who is independent of the Corporation, any of its affiliates, and the Directors and officers of the Corporation and its affiliates;
- (d) "Board" means the board of directors of the Corporation;
- (e) "**By-law**" means this by-law and any other by-law of the Corporation as amended which are, from time to time, in force and effect;
- (f) "**Director**" means an individual who is a member of the Board;
- (g) "Extraordinary Resolution" means a resolution that is:
  - (i) submitted to a special Meeting of Members of the Corporation duly called for the purpose of considering the resolution and passed at the meeting, with or without amendment, by at least 80 per cent of the votes cast, or

- (ii) consented to in writing by each Member of the Corporation entitled to vote at a Meeting of Members;
- (h) "Income Tax Act" means the *Income Tax Act* (Canada), R.S.C. 1985, c.1 (5th Supp.), including any regulations made pursuant to it, and any amendments, statutes or regulations that may be substituted from time to time;
- (i) "Meeting of Members" means an annual meeting, a special meeting, or an annual and special meeting of members;
- (j) "Member" means an individual who has been admitted to membership in the Corporation pursuant to the provisions of this By-law and whose membership has not been terminated in accordance with the Act and the By-law;
- (k) "Ordinary Resolution" means a resolution that:
  - (i) is submitted to a Meeting of Members of the Corporation and passed at the meeting, with or without amendment, by at least a majority of the votes cast, or
  - (ii) is consented to in writing by each Member of the Corporation entitled to vote at a Meeting of Members of the Corporation;
- (l) "**Regulations**" means the regulations made under the Act, as amended, restated or in effect from time to time;
- (m) "Special Business" has the meaning set out in Section 7.6; and
- (n) "Special Resolution" means a resolution that:
  - (i) is submitted to a special Meeting of Members of the Corporation duly called for the purpose of considering the resolution and passed at the meeting, with or without amendment, by at least two-thirds of the votes cast, or
  - (ii) consented to in writing by each Member of the Corporation entitled to vote at a Meeting of Members of the Corporation.

## 1.2 **Interpretation**

In the interpretation of this By-law, words in the singular include the plural and vice-versa, words in one gender include all genders, and "person" includes an individual, body corporate, partnership, trust and unincorporated organization. Other than as specified above, words and expressions defined in the Act have the same meanings when used in this By-law.

# ARTICLE 2 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

#### 2.1 Number of Directors

The Board shall consist of the number of a minimum of seven and maximum of 13 Directors. The fixed number of Directors within that range shall be determined from time to time by the Members by Special Resolution or, if a Special Resolution empowers the Directors to determine the number, by resolution of the Board. A decrease in the number of Directors does not shorten the term of an incumbent Director.

# 2.2 Qualifications

- (a) Each Director shall be an individual who is not less than 18 years of age.
- (b) Each Director shall be a Member of the Corporation, or shall become a Member within 10 days after election to the Board, and must be a Member in good standing at all times during their term of office.
- (c) No individual shall be a Director who has been found under the *Substitute Decisions Act*, 1992 S.O. 1992, c. 30 or under the *Mental Health Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. M.7 to be incapable of managing property, who has been found to be incapable by any court in Canada or elsewhere, or who has the status of a bankrupt.
- (d) Prior to becoming a Director, or within 10 days of such a Director being elected or appointed, the Director shall execute a consent to act in the form determined by the Board from time to time. If a Director is re-elected or reappointed without a break in the term of office, no consent is required.
- (e) Each Director must agree to abide by the Corporation's Code of Conduct, Club Rules and any other policies applicable to Directors as may be enacted by the Board from time to time.
- (f) Each Director must satisfy all other requirements for being a Director under the Act and this By-law.

### 2.3 **Ex-officio Director**

The person who holds the office of Immediate Past Chair of the Corporation at any time shall be an ex-officio Director of the Corporation during such time, and shall have the right to attend and vote at all meetings of the Board. Ex-officio Directors shall satisfy all other requirements of Directors as set out in the Act and this By-law.

### 2.4 **Directors Ceasing to Hold Office**

A Director ceases to hold office when the Director dies, resigns, is removed from office by the Members in accordance with the Act, or no longer fulfils all of the qualifications to be a Director set out in the Act or in Section 2.2 and Section 2.3, if applicable of this By-law, as determined in the sole discretion of the Board.

Where an individual is no longer a Director, then such individual shall be deemed to have also automatically resigned as an officer and/or a committee member, as applicable, provided that the

Board may in its discretion subsequently re-appoint such individual as an officer or committee member if the Board deems it appropriate in the circumstances.

#### 2.5 Election and Term

The Directors shall be elected at each annual Meeting of Members.

Each Director shall be elected to hold office until the first annual Meeting of Members after such Director is elected, at which time, each such Director shall retire as a Director, but, if qualified, shall be eligible for re-election. If Directors are not elected at a Meeting of Members, the incumbent Directors shall continue in office until their successors are elected.

### 2.6 Vacancies

Provided there is a quorum of Directors in office, the Directors may appoint a qualified individual to fill a vacancy on the Board caused between annual Meetings of Members by a Director ceasing to hold office as set out in Section 2.4. The individual appointed to fill such vacancy shall hold office for the remainder of the term of the departing Director.

# 2.7 **Directors Compensation**

The Directors shall serve as such without remuneration and no Director shall directly or indirectly receive any profit from such position. Nothing herein contained shall preclude any Director who is engaged in or is a member of a firm engaged in any business or profession from acting in and being paid reasonable professional costs and charges for any professional business required to be done in connection with the administration of the affairs of the Corporation. Also, nothing herein contained shall be construed to preclude any Director from serving the Corporation as an officer or in any other capacity and receiving reasonable compensation therefor.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, not more than one-third of the Directors of a Public Benefit Corporation may be employees of the Corporation or of any of its affiliates.

#### 2.8 **Removal of Directors**

The Members may, by Ordinary Resolution at a special Meeting of Members, remove from office any Director or Directors, except persons who are Directors by virtue of their office. A vacancy created by the removal of a Director may be filled at the Meeting of Members at which the Director is removed, or by the Directors still in office, provided there is a quorum. Directors elected or appointed to fill a vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the term of the departing Director.

# 2.9 **Appointment of Additional Directors**

If, in between Meetings of Members, the Directors increase the size of the Board, the Directors may appoint one or more additional Directors who shall hold office for a term expiring not later than the close of the next annual Meeting of Members, but the total number of Directors so appointed may not exceed one-third of the number of Directors elected at the previous annual Meeting of Members.

#### 2.10 Executive Committee

Whenever the Board consists of more than five Directors, the Board may elect from its members a management committee (which may be known as the "Executive Committee") of not less than three Directors, which committee shall have power to fix its quorum at not less than a majority of its numbers. No Executive Committee Member shall be entitled to hold office for a period of more than four consecutive years. The Executive Committee may have such powers as the Board may delegate to it.

#### 2.11 Audit Committee

The Board may appoint an audit committee comprising one or more Directors and the majority of the committee must not be officers or employees of the Corporation or of any of its affiliates.

### 2.12 Other Committees

The Board may establish such other committees as it may require from time to time, with such Members and on such terms as the Board shall determine.

#### 2.13 Terms of Reference for all Committees

All committees shall be responsible to the Board and shall be chaired by a Director. Each committee shall be subject to any restrictions and terms of reference imposed from time to time by the Board and the Act. The Board may, by resolution, remove any member of a committee and may fill the vacancy created by such removal.

## 2.14 **Powers of Committees**

Unless otherwise determined by the Board, each committee shall have the power to fix its quorum at not less than a majority of its members and to regulate its procedure. The powers of a committee may be exercised by a meeting at which a quorum is present or by resolution in writing signed by all members of such committee who would have been entitled to vote on that resolution at a meeting of the committee. Meetings of such committees may be held at ay place in or outside of Canada, or online.

# ARTICLE 3 DIRECTORS' MEETINGS

# 3.1 **Calling of Meetings**

Meetings of the Board may be called by the Chair of the Board, or any two Directors, at any time.

For the first meeting of the Board to be held following the election of Directors at a Meeting of Members, no notice of such meeting need be given in order for the meeting to be duly constituted, provided a quorum of the Directors is present. If no quorum of the Directors is present, then no less than five days' notice of the first meeting of the Directors shall be given to each Director, stating the time and, if applicable, the place of the meeting.

# 3.2 **Notice of Meetings**

Notice of a meeting of the Board shall be sent to each Director not less than 48 hours before the date of the meeting provided that a meeting of the Board may be held at any time without notice if all the Directors are present (except where a Director is present for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the grounds that the meeting has not been properly called) or if all the absent Directors have waived notice. For any meeting the notice shall contain sufficient information to permit the Directors to form a reasoned judgment on the matters to come before the meeting.

If notice of a meeting is given by mail, notice shall be sent at least 14 days prior to the meeting.

# 3.3 **Adjournment of Meetings**

Notice of a meeting that continues an adjourned meeting of Directors is not required to be given if all of the following are announced at the time of an adjournment:

- (a) The time of the continued meeting.
- (b) If applicable, the place of the continued meeting.
- (c) If applicable, instructions for attending and participating in the continued meeting by the telephonic or electronic means that will be made available for the meeting, including, if applicable, instructions for voting by such means at the meeting.

# 3.4 Notice of Meeting by Telephonic or Electronic Means

If the Directors may attend a meeting by telephonic or electronic means, the notice of the meeting must include instructions for attending and participating in the meeting by the telephonic or electronic means that will be made available for the meeting, including, if applicable, instructions for voting by such means at the meeting.

If the meeting is to be held entirely by one or more telephonic or electronic means, then the notice of the meeting need not specify a place of the meeting.

#### 3.5 **Quorum**

Subject to the Act, a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board shall be:

- (a) where the Articles set out the number of Directors, a majority of that number; or
- (b) where the Articles set out the minimum and maximum number of Directors, a majority of the number of Directors then fixed in accordance with Section 2.1 of this By-law.

Notwithstanding any vacancy among the Directors, a quorum of Directors may exercise all the powers of the Board.

# 3.6 Meetings Held by Telephonic or Electronic Means

The Chair of the Board, or the Directors who call a meeting of the Board, as the case may be, may determine that the meeting shall be held, in accordance with the Act and the Regulations, by any combination of in-person attendance and one or more telephonic or electronic means or entirely by telephonic or electronic means, where such telephonic or electronic means permit all participants to communicate simultaneously and instantaneously with each other during the meeting. Any person participating by telephonic or electronic means is deemed to be present in person at that meeting.

## 3.7 **Votes to Govern**

At all meetings of the Board, every question shall be decided by a majority of the votes cast on the question. The chair of the meeting shall be entitled to a vote.

Each resolution presented at a meeting of the Board shall be voted upon by poll, which may be conducted by show of hands, or by other visual, auditory, or telephonic or electronic signs given by the Directors, as determined by the chair of the meeting. Whenever a vote by poll shall have been taken upon a question, a declaration by the chair of the meeting that the vote upon the question has been carried or carried by a particular majority or not carried and an entry to that effect in the minutes of the meeting shall be sufficient evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against any resolution or other proceeding in respect of the said question, and the result of the vote so taken shall be the decision of the Board upon the said question.

# 3.8 Casting Vote

In the case of an equality of votes at a meeting of the Board, the chair of the meeting shall not be entitled to a second or casting vote and the resolution shall fail.

## 3.9 **Resolution in Lieu of Meeting**

A resolution, signed by all the Directors entitled to vote on that resolution at a meeting of Directors or of a committee of Directors is as valid as if it had been passed at a meeting of Directors or of a committee of Directors.

# 3.10 Confidentiality

Every Director, officer, committee member, employee (if any) and volunteer, shall respect the confidentiality of matters brought before the Board or before any committee of the Board. Employees and volunteers shall also keep confidential matters that come to their attention as part of their employment or volunteer activities. If requested by the Corporation, each Director, officer, committee member, employee and volunteer shall execute and be bound by the Corporation's code of conduct, of any, or such other agreement as the Corporation may provide to this effect.

### 3.11 **Conflict of Interest**

Every Director and officer shall disclose to the Corporation the nature and extent of any interest that the Director or officer has in a material contract or material transaction, whether made or proposed, with the Corporation, in accordance with the manner and timing provided in section 41

of the Act, and in accordance with any code or policy of the Board then in effect, passed in accordance with Section 11.4.

Subject to and in accordance with the Act, a Director or officer who discloses a conflict of interest shall not be present at or participate in any discussions relating to the relevant contract or transaction, and shall not vote on any matters related to the relevant contract or transaction. If no quorum exists for the purpose of voting on a resolution to approve a contract or transaction only because a Director is not permitted to be present at the meeting by reason of that Director's conflict of interest, the remaining Directors are deemed to constitute a quorum for the purposes of voting on the resolution.

#### 3.12 **Procedure**

Procedure at all meetings of the Board shall be determined by the Chair. In determining meeting procedure, the Chair may rely on a procedural or meeting reference book, including but not limited to *Robert's Rules of Order, Nathan & Goldfarb's Company Meetings*, or *Procedures for Meetings and Organizations*.

# ARTICLE 4 APPOINTMENT AND DUTIES OF OFFICERS

# 4.1 **Appointment of Officers**

The Directors may, from time to time, designate the offices of the Corporation, appoint officers on an annual or more frequent basis, specify their duties and, subject to the Act, delegate to such officers the power to manage the affairs of the Corporation. A Director may be appointed to any office of the Corporation. An officer may, but need not be, a Director, unless this By-law otherwise provides. Two or more offices may be held by the same individual.

# 4.2 **Description of Offices**

Unless otherwise specified by the Board (which may, subject to the Act modify, restrict or supplement such duties and powers), the officers of the Corporation shall have the following duties and powers associated with their positions:

- (a) Chair of the Board The Board shall appoint the Chair, who shall be a Director. The Chair when present shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and of the Members. The Chair shall have such other duties and powers as the Board may specify.
- (b) Vice-Chair of the Board If appointed, the Vice-Chair shall be a Director. If the Chair is absent or is unable or refuses to act, the Vice-Chair, if any, shall, when present, preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and of the Members. The Vice-Chair shall have such other duties and powers as the Board may specify.
- (c) Past Chair of the Board Upon completing their term as Chair, an individual shall automatically become the immediate Past Chair of the Board. If the position of Past

Chair of the Board is vacant, the Board may appoint another individual who has served as the Chair of the Board in the past to the position of Past Chair. The Past Chair shall provide assistance and guidance to the Chair and shall have such other duties and powers as the Board may specify.

- (d) Secretary If appointed, the Secretary shall, subject to the authority of the Chair of the Board, attend and be the Secretary of all meetings of the Board and the Members. The Secretary shall enter or cause to be entered in the Corporation's minute book, minutes of all proceedings at such meetings; the Secretary shall give, or cause to be given, as and when instructed, notices to Members, Directors, the Auditor; and the Secretary shall be the custodian of the seal (if any), and of all books, papers, records, documents and other instruments belonging to the Corporation. If the Secretary is, for any reason, unable to be present at a meeting of the Board or the Members or to give a notice of a meeting, the Board may appoint another Director to record the minutes of the meeting or give the notice of the meeting.
- (e) Treasurer If appointed, the Treasurer shall keep or cause to be kept all required books of account and accounting records and, subject to the oversight of the Board, shall be responsible for the care and custody of the funds and securities of the Corporation and the issuance of receipts for donations to the Corporation. The Treasurer shall arrange for the financial records of the Corporation to be audited or reviewed by a licensed public accountant annually, as determined by the Members in accordance with the Act, and shall present interim financial statements to each regular meeting of the Board and the audited or reviewed annual financial statements to each annual Meeting of Members. The Board may appoint an Assistant Treasurer and/or as an authorized signing officer for the Corporation, or authorize one or more other officers to assist the Treasurer with the performance of their duties.
- (f) Other Officers The powers and duties of all other officers of the Corporation shall be such as the terms of their engagement call for or the Board or Chair requires of them.

#### 4.3 **Variation of Duties**

The Board may from time to time and subject to the Act, vary, add to or limit the powers and duties of any officer.

# 4.4 Term of Officers

In the absence of a written agreement to the contrary, the Board may remove, whether for cause or without cause, any officer of the Corporation. Unless so removed, an officer shall hold office until the earlier of:

- (a) in the case of the Chair, three years from the date of their appointment as Chair;
- (b) the officer's successor being appointed;

- (c) the officer's resignation;
- (d) such officer ceasing to be a Director (if a necessary qualification of appointment); or
- (e) such officer's death.

If the office of any officer of the Corporation shall be or becomes vacant, the Directors may, by resolution, appoint a person to fill such vacancy.

### 4.5 **Remuneration**

The officers shall be paid such remuneration for their services as the Board may from time to time determine, subject to Section 2.7 if applicable.

# ARTICLE 5 INDEMNIFICATION

# 5.1 **Limitation of Liability**

No Director or officer shall be liable for the acts, receipts, neglects or defaults of any other Director or officer or employee, or for joining in any receipt or act for conformity or for any loss, damage or expense happening to the Corporation through the insufficiency or deficiency of title to any property acquired by the Corporation for or on behalf of the Corporation or for the insufficiency or deficiency of any security in or upon which any of the monies of the Corporation shall be invested or for any loss or damage arising from the bankruptcy, insolvency or tortious act of any person with whom or which any of the monies, securities or effects of the Corporation shall be deposited or for any loss occasioned by any error of judgment or oversight on their part, or for any other loss, damage or misfortune whatever which shall happen in the execution of the duties of their office or in relation thereto, unless the same are occasioned by their own wilful neglect or default; provided that nothing herein shall relieve any Director or officer from the duty to act in accordance with the Act or from liability for any breach thereof.

# 5.2 **Indemnity of Directors and Officers**

Every Director and officer of the Corporation, every former Director or officer of the Corporation, or individual who acts or acted at the Corporation's request as a Director or officer of a body corporate of which the Corporation is or was a shareholder or creditor, and their heirs and legal representatives shall, from time to time, be indemnified and saved harmless by the Corporation from and against all costs, charges and expenses, including an amount paid to settle an action or satisfy a judgment, reasonably incurred by them in respect of any civil, criminal or administrative action or proceeding to which they are made a party by reason of being or having been a Director or officer of the corporation or such body corporate if,

(a) the individual acted honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Corporation; and

(b) in the case of a criminal or administrative action or proceeding that is enforced by a monetary penalty, the individual had reasonable grounds for believing that such conduct was lawful.

## 5.3 **Insurance**

Subject to the limitations contained in the Act, the Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance for the benefit of an individual referred to in subsection 46(1) of the Act against any liability incurred by the individual:

- (a) in the individual's capacity as a Director or officer of the Corporation; or
- (b) in the individual's capacity as a Director or officer, or similar capacity, of another entity, if the individual acts or acted in that capacity at the Corporation's request.

# ARTICLE 6 MEMBERSHIP CONDITIONS

## 6.1 Three Membership Classes

Subject to the Articles, there shall be three classes of Members in the Corporation. Membership in the Corporation shall be available to individuals interested in furthering the Corporation's purposes and who have applied for and been accepted into membership in the Corporation by resolution of the Board or in such other manner as may be determined by the Board. Members shall have the following qualifications and rights, according to their respective member class:

- (a) Adult Members An Adult Member shall be any individual 18 years or older as of January 1<sup>st</sup> in the year in which the individual was admitted by the Board as a Member. Each Adult Member shall be entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote at all Meetings of Members of the Corporation.
- (b) Junior Members A Junior Member shall be any individual 17 years or younger as of January 1<sup>st</sup> in the year in which the individual was admitted by the Board as a Member. A Junior Member shall not be entitled to receive notice of or attend any Meetings of Members and may not vote thereat.
- (c) Honourary Members An Honourary Member shall be a person designated by the Board in its sole discretion in recognition of that person's contribution to the Corporation. Each Honourary Member shall be entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote at all Meetings of Members of the Corporation.

The Board may develop a membership admittance policy, pursuant to section 11.4, outlining the specific criteria for admittance to membership in the Corporation.

### 6.2 **Term of Membership**

Membership shall be effective from the date of admission until the date that annual membership dues are payable for the next season or until terminated in accordance with the By-law.

## 6.3 **Transfer of Membership**

A membership may not be transferred to any individual or corporation.

# 6.4 **Membership Dues**

The Board may require Members to pay annual membership dues and other club fees or charges and may determine the manner in which these amounts are to be paid, and the Board may set different rates for Members based on relevant criteria established by the Board from time to time. Members shall be notified in writing of the membership dues and other club fees or charges, if any, at any time payable by them and, if any are not paid within the time period set out in the notice(s), the Member(s) in default shall thereupon automatically cease to be Members of the Corporation. Nevertheless, the Board may, in its sole discretion, reinstate the Member in default of annual membership dues up until the adult membership roster is full, and may, at its sole discretion, reinstate the Member in default of other club fees.

# 6.5 **Good Standing**

All Members are deemed to be in good standing except:

- (a) a Member who has failed to pay amounts owed to the Corporation, if any, pursuant to Section 6.4 when due and owing, and such Member is not in good standing for so long as the amount owing remains unpaid; or
- (b) a Member who has been suspended or declared otherwise not to be in good standing pursuant to a disciplinary proceeding in accordance with Section 6.8.

A Member not in good standing is not entitled to call, attend or vote at Meetings of Members. This requirement may be waived at the discretion of the Board.

## 6.6 **Termination of Membership**

A membership in the Corporation is terminated when:

- (a) a Member dies or resigns;
- (b) a Member is expelled or the membership is otherwise terminated in accordance with the Articles or the By-laws;
- (c) a Member's term of membership expires;
- (d) a Member fails to pay annual membership dues or other amounts owing in accordance with Section 6.4:

- (e) a Member does not confirm such Member's membership in the Corporation within 60 days of receiving a confirmation of membership request sent by the Corporation to the last known address or email address of such Member; or
- (f) the Corporation is liquidated and dissolved under the Act.

Subject to the Act and the Articles, upon any termination of membership, all rights of the Member, including any rights in the property of the Corporation, automatically cease to exist.

# 6.7 **Discipline or Termination of a Member**

The Board shall have authority to discipline, suspend or terminate the membership of any Member for any one or more of the following grounds:

- (a) violating any provision of the Articles, or any By-laws or written policies of the Corporation;
- (b) carrying out any conduct which may be detrimental to the Corporation as determined by the Board in its sole discretion; or
- (c) for any other reason that the Board in its sole discretion considers to be reasonable, having regard to the purposes of the Corporation.

Any discipline or termination of membership must comply with the Act and this By-law and must be done in good faith and in a fair and reasonable manner.

# 6.8 **Procedure for Discipline, Suspension or Termination**

- (a) Upon 15 days' notice to a Member, the Board may pass a resolution authorizing disciplinary action, suspension or the termination of membership for any of the reasons set out in Section 6.7.
- (b) The notice shall set out the reasons for the proposed disciplinary action, suspension or termination of membership. The Member receiving the notice shall be entitled to give the Board a written submission opposing the disciplinary action or termination not less than five days before the end of the 15-day period.
- (c) The Board shall consider the submissions of the Member, if any, in arriving at a final decision regarding disciplinary action, suspension or termination of membership. The Board shall notify the Member concerning such final decision within a further 10 days from the date of receipt of the submissions.
- (d) Subject to the Act, the Board's decision shall be final and binding on the Member, without any further right of appeal.

# ARTICLE 7 MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

# 7.1 **Notice of Meetings**

Notice of the time and place of a Meeting of Members shall be given to each Member entitled to vote at the meeting, to the Directors and to the Corporation's Auditor, not less than 10 days and not more than 50 days before the meeting in accordance with Article 9 of this By-law. For any Meeting of Members where Special Business is transacted, the notice shall contain sufficient information to permit the Members to form a reasoned judgment on the matters to come before the meeting and shall state the text of any Special Resolution to be submitted to the Meeting of Members.

If a person is entitled to attend a Meeting of Members by telephonic or electronic means, a notice of the meeting must include instructions for attending and participating in the meeting by the telephonic or electronic means that will be made available for the meeting, including, if applicable, instructions for voting by such means at the meeting.

If the Meeting of Members is to be held entirely by one or more telephonic or electronic means, then notice of the meeting is not required to specify a place of the meeting.

#### 7.2 **Record Date**

The Directors may fix a date as the record date for:

- (a) determining Members entitled to receive notice of a Meeting of Members;
- (b) determining Members entitled to vote at a Meeting of Members;
- (c) determining Members entitled to participate in a liquidation distribution; or
- (d) determining Members for any other purpose.

A record date must not be more than 50 days before the day of the event or action to which it relates.

# 7.3 Timing of Annual Meeting of Members

The Annual Meeting of Members shall be held no later than 15 months after the preceding annual Meeting of Members and no later than six months after the financial year end of the Corporation.

# 7.4 Place of Meetings

Subject to compliance with section 53 of the Act, Meetings of Members may be held at any place within Ontario determined by the Board or, if all of the Members entitled to vote at such meeting so agree or the Articles so provide, outside Ontario.

GR: 2078557\3 (126444)

A Meeting of Members held entirely by one or more telephonic or electronic means or by any combination of in-person attendance and by one or more telephonic or electronic means is deemed to be held at the registered office of the Corporation.

# 7.5 Information to be Furnished in Advance of Meeting

Not less than five business days, or another number of days that may be further prescribed in Regulations, before each Meeting of Members, the Corporation shall give a copy of the approved financial statements, report of the Auditor, and any further information respecting the financial position of the Corporation and the results of its operations required by the Articles or the By-laws, to all Members who have informed the Corporation that they wish to receive a copy of those documents. The documents required to be given under this section may be provided to Members in the manner set out in Section 9.2.

## 7.6 **Special Business**

All business transacted at a special Meeting of Members and all business transacted at an annual Meeting of Members is Special Business except for the following:

- (a) consideration of the financial statements;
- (b) consideration of the audit or review engagement report, if any;
- (c) an Extraordinary Resolution to have a review engagement instead of an audit or to not have an audit or a review engagement;
- (d) election of Directors; and
- (e) appointment or reappointment of the Auditor.

## 7.7 Persons Entitled to be Present

The only persons entitled to be present at a Meeting of Members shall be those entitled to vote at the meeting, the Directors and the Auditor of the Corporation and such other persons who are entitled or required under any provision of the Act, Articles or any By-law of the Corporation to be present at the meeting. Any other person may be admitted only on the invitation of the chair of the meeting or by resolution of the Members.

### 7.8 **Chair of Meeting**

If the Chair of the Board and the Vice-Chair of the Board, if any, are absent, the Members who are present and entitled to vote at the meeting shall choose the Member to chair the meeting.

#### 7.9 **Quorum**

(a) A quorum at any Meeting of Members (unless a greater number of Members is required to be present by the Act) shall be 11 persons present in person and each entitled to vote thereat or a duly appointed proxy so entitled.

- (b) If a quorum is present at the opening of a Meeting of Members and subsequently during the Meeting of Members a quorum is lost, the Members present may not proceed with the business of the Meeting of Members or any other business, unless a quorum is restored prior to the adjournment or termination of the meeting.
- (c) If there is a lack of quorum at an initial Meeting which is subsequently adjourned due to lack of quorum, then the quorum at the adjourned Meeting of Members shall be the presence of those Members entitled to vote who are present at the meeting.
- (d) If a quorum is not present at the opening of a Meeting of Members, the Members present may adjourn the meeting to a fixed time and place but may not transact any other business.
- (e) Notice of an adjourned meeting is required to be given in accordance with this Bylaw for any meeting that is adjourned by more than 30 days.

### 7.10 Votes to Govern

At any Meeting of Members every question shall, unless otherwise required by the Articles or any By-law or by the Act, be determined by a majority of the votes cast on the question. In case of an equality of votes, either by poll vote or by ballot, the chair of the meeting in addition to an original vote shall be entitled to a second or casting vote. A poll vote may be conducted by show of hands, or by other visual, auditory, or telephonic or electronic signs given by the Members, as determined by the chair of the meeting. After a poll vote has been taken upon any question, the chair may require, or any Member or proxyholder present and entitled to vote may demand, a ballot thereon, which ballot may also be conducted by telephonic or electronic means. Whenever a poll vote shall have been taken upon a question, unless a ballot thereon be so required or demanded, a declaration by the chair that the vote upon the question has been carried or carried by a particular majority or not carried and an entry to that effect in the minutes of the meeting shall be *prima facie* evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against the question. The result of the vote so taken and declared shall be the decision of the Corporation on the question. A demand for a ballot may be withdrawn at any time prior to the taking of the ballot.

## 7.11 Meetings Held by Telephonic or Electronic Means

If the Directors or Members of the Corporation call a Meeting of Members pursuant to the Act, those Directors or Members, as the case may be, may determine that the meeting shall be held, in accordance with the Act and the Regulations, by any combination of in-person attendance and one or more telephonic or electronic means or entirely by telephonic or electronic means, provided that all participants attending the meeting are able to reasonably participate. A meeting held entirely by telephonic or electronic means is deemed to be held at the registered office of the Corporation. Any person participating in a meeting by telephonic or electronic means is deemed to be present in person at the meeting.

Any person participating in a Meeting of Members pursuant to this section who is entitled to vote at that meeting may vote by any telephonic or electronic means that the Corporation has made available for that purpose.

# 7.12 Voting by Members not in Attendance at a Meeting of Members

A Member entitled to vote at a Meeting of Members may vote by mailed-in ballot or by telephonic or electronic means, in addition to or instead of voting by proxy, if the Board decides to make such means available.

# 7.13 **Voting by Proxy**

Pursuant to subsection 64(1) of the Act, a Member entitled to vote at a Meeting of Members may vote by proxy by appointing in writing a proxyholder, and one or more alternate proxyholders, who shall be Members of the Corporation, to attend and act at the meeting in the manner and to the extent authorized by the proxy and with the authority conferred by it subject to the following:

- (a) a proxy is valid only at the meeting in respect of which it is given or at a continuation of the meeting after an adjournment;
- (b) a Member may revoke a proxy by depositing an instrument in writing executed by the Member in accordance with the Act;
- (c) a proxyholder has the same rights as the Member by whom they were appointed, including the right to speak at a Meeting of Members in respect of any matter, to vote by way of ballot at the meeting and, except where a proxyholder has conflicting instructions from more than one Member, to vote at the meeting by way of a show of hands;
- (d) a proxy shall be in writing and shall be executed by the Member and delivered to the Secretary prior to the call to order of the Meeting of Members;
- (e) any form of proxy shall conform to the requirements set out in the Regulations; and
- (f) votes by proxy shall be collected, counted and reported in such manner as the chair of the meeting directs.

## 7.14 Adjournment of Meetings

Notice of an adjourned meeting is required to be given in accordance with this By-law for any meeting that is adjourned by more than 30 days.

If a Meeting of Members is adjourned by one or more adjournments for an aggregate of less than 30 days, notice of the meeting that continues the adjourned meeting is not necessary, other than by announcement of all of the following at the time of an adjournment:

- (i) The time of the continued meeting.
- (ii) If applicable, the place of the continued meeting.
- (iii) If applicable, instructions for attending and participating in the continued meeting by the telephonic or electronic means that will be made available

for the meeting, including, if applicable, instructions for voting by such means at the meeting.

# 7.15 **Resolution in Lieu of Meeting**

A resolution signed by all the Members entitled to vote on that resolution at a Meeting of Members is as valid as if it had been passed at a Meeting of Members.

#### 7.16 **Procedure**

Procedure at all meetings of the Members shall be determined by the Chair. In determining meeting procedure, the Board may rely on a procedural or meeting reference book, including but not limited to Robert's Rules of Order, Nathan & Goldfarb's Company Meetings, or Procedures for Meetings and Organizations.

# ARTICLE 8 BANKING ARRANGEMENTS, CONTRACTS, ETC.

### 8.1 **Execution of Documents**

Deeds, transfers, assignments, contracts, obligations and other instruments in writing requiring execution by the Corporation may be signed by any two officers or Directors. In addition, the Board may from time to time direct the manner in which and the person or persons by whom a particular document or type of document shall be executed. Any signing officer may certify a copy of any instrument, resolution, By-law or other document of the Corporation to be a true copy thereof.

## 8.2 **Banking Arrangements**

The banking business of the Corporation shall be transacted at such bank, trust company or other firm or corporation carrying on a banking business in Canada or elsewhere as the Board of Directors may designate, appoint or authorize from time to time by resolution. The banking business or any part of it shall be transacted by an officer or officers of the Corporation and/or other persons as the Board of Directors may by resolution from time to time designate, direct or authorize.

# ARTICLE 9 NOTICES

# 9.1 **Giving Notice**

Any notice, communication or other document to be given (which term includes sent, delivered or served) pursuant to the Act, the Articles, the By-laws or otherwise to a Member, Director, officer or member of a committee of the Board or to the Auditor shall be sufficiently given:

GR: 2078557\3 (126444)

- (a) if delivered personally to the person to whom it is to be given or if delivered to such person's address as shown in the records of the Corporation or in the case of notice to a Director to the latest address as shown in the records of the Corporation or in the most recent notice or return filed under the *Corporations Information Act*, whichever is the more current;
- (b) if mailed to such person at such person's recorded address by ordinary mail or by any other method, including registered mail, certified mail or prepaid courier; or
- (c) if sent to such person by telephonic or electronic means, in accordance with Section 9.2 at such person's recorded address or telephone number for that purpose.

The declaration by the Secretary that notice has been given pursuant to this By-law shall be sufficient and conclusive evidence of the giving of such notice. Any notice may be signed electronically.

The Secretary may change or cause to be changed the recorded address of any Member, Director, officer, Auditor or member of a committee of the Board in accordance with any information believed by the Secretary to be reliable.

# 9.2 **Telephonic or Electronic Notice**

Any notice required to be sent to any Member or Director or to the Auditor of the Corporation shall be delivered personally, or sent by prepaid mail, email or other telephonic or electronic means to any such Member at the Member's latest address as shown in the records of the Corporation; and to such Director at their latest address as shown in the records of the Corporation or in the most recent notice or return filed under the *Corporations Information Act*, whichever is the more current; and to the Auditor at its business address; provided always that notice may be waived or the time for giving the notice may be abridged at any time with the consent in writing of the person entitled thereto. Furthermore, notice provided which contains a telephonic or electronic link or internet address which is accessible by remote means by the internet or other electronic means, whereby the recipient may review or download the notice and/or the materials related to the notice, shall satisfy this clause.

## 9.3 **Errors or Omissions**

The accidental omission to give any notice to any Member, Director, officer, Auditor or member of a committee of the Board or the non-receipt of any notice by any such person where the Corporation has provided notice in accordance with the By-laws or any error in any notice not affecting its substance shall not invalidate any action taken at any meeting to which the notice pertained or was otherwise founded on such notice.

## 9.4 **Computation of Time**

Where a given number of days' notice or notice extending over a period is required to be given under the By-law, the day of service, posting or other delivery of the notice shall not be counted in such number of days or other period, and the day on which such number of days or period expires shall be counted.

#### 9.5 Undelivered Notices

If a notice or other communication sent to a Member is returned on two consecutive occasions because such Member cannot be found or the notice or communication cannot otherwise be delivered, the Corporation shall not be required to give any further notices or communications to that Member unless the Member informs the Corporation in writing of a new address and, in addition to the foregoing, where a notice or other communication sent to the recorded address of any Member, Director, officer, Auditor or member of a committee of the Board is returned as undeliverable or otherwise cannot be delivered, the Secretary may change or cause to be changed such recorded address in accordance with any information the Secretary reasonably believes is reliable.

#### 9.6 **Waiver of Notice**

Any Member (or such Member's duly appointed proxy), Director, officer or Auditor may waive any notice required to be given under the Act, the Articles or any By-law of the Corporation and such waiver, whether given before or after the meeting or other event of which notice is required to be given, shall cure any default in the giving of such notice.

# ARTICLE 10 BY-LAW AMENDMENTS

# 10.1 **By-laws, Amendment, or Repeal**

Unless the Act, the Articles or any By-law otherwise provide, the Directors may, by resolution, make, amend, or repeal any By-law and any such By-law or amendment or repeal shall be effective when approved by the Board, with the exception of matters referred to in subsections 103(1)(g), (k) and (l) of the Act. The Directors shall submit such By-law, amendment or repeal to the Members at the next meeting of the Members, and the Members may confirm, reject or amend the By-law, amendment or repeal by Ordinary Resolution. If the By-law amendment or repeal is so confirmed, or confirmed as amended, by the Members entitled to vote thereon, it remains effective in the form in which it was confirmed. The By-law amendment or repeal ceases to have effect if it is not submitted by the Directors to the Members at or before the next annual Meeting of Members or if it is so presented but rejected by the Members entitled to vote thereon. If a By-law, amendment, or repeal ceases to have effect, a subsequent resolution of the Directors that has substantially the same purpose or effect is not effective until it is confirmed, or confirmed as amended, by the Members entitled to vote thereon.

### 10.2 **Repeal**

Subsections 103(1)(g), (k) and (l) of the Act refer to certain changes to the bylaws that must be approved by the members before they come into effect. Those sections include making changes to: 1) add, change or remove a provision respecting the transfer of a membership; 2) change the manner of giving notice to members entitled to vote at a meeting of members; and 3) change the method of voting by members not in attendance at a meeting of the members.

Subject to the provisions of section 10.3 hereof, all prior By-laws, resolutions and other enactments of the Corporation inconsistent in either form or content with the provisions of this By-law are repealed.

# 10.3 Effect of Repeal of By-laws

The repeal of any By-law in whole or part shall not in any way affect the validity of any act done or right, privilege, obligation or liability acquired or incurred thereunder prior to such repeal.

# ARTICLE 11 GENERAL

### 11.1 Corporate Seal

The Corporation does not adopt the use of a corporate seal.

#### 11.2 Financial Year End

The financial year end of the Corporation shall be determined by the Board, from time to time.

As of the date of the adoption of this By-law, the financial year end of the Corporation is the last day of February.

# 11.3 Categorization under the Act

The Corporation shall monitor its status as either a Public Benefit Corporation or Non-Public Benefit Corporation under the Act.

"Public Benefit Corporation" means:

- (i) a charitable corporation, or
- (ii) a non-charitable corporation that receives more than \$10,000 or other amount prescribed by the Regulations in a financial year,
  - (a) in the form of donations or gifts from persons who are not members, directors, officers or employees of the Corporation, or
  - (b) in the form of grants or similar financial assistance from the federal government or a provincial or municipal government or an agency of any such government.

A Non-Public Benefit Corporation is a corporation which does not meet the test of a Public Benefit Corporation.

#### 11.4 Financial Review

A Public Benefit Corporation shall have an audit each year, subject to the following:

- (a) when the Corporation has annual revenues in that financial year of more than \$100,000 and less than \$500,000 (or such other amounts prescribed by the Act), the Members may pass an Extraordinary Resolution to have a review engagement instead of an audit; or
- (b) when the Corporation has annual revenues in that financial year of \$100,000 or less (or such other amounts prescribed by the Act), the Members may pass an Extraordinary Resolution to not have an audit or a review engagement.

A Non-Public Benefit Corporation shall have an audit each year, subject to the following:

- (a) when the Corporation has annual revenues in that financial year of more than \$500,000 (or such other amounts prescribed by the Act), the Members may pass an Extraordinary Resolution to have a review engagement instead of an audit; or
- (b) when the Corporation has annual revenues in that financial year of \$500,000 or less (or such other amounts prescribed by the Act), the Members may pass an Extraordinary Resolution to not have an audit or review engagement.

#### 11.5 Policies

The Board may adopt, amend, or repeal by resolution such operating policies that are not inconsistent with any By-law of the Corporation relating to such matters as terms of reference of committees, duties of officers, Board and Member codes of conduct and conflict of interest, volunteer recruitment requirements, oversight and codes of conduct, as well as procedural and other requirements relating to the By-laws as the Board may deem appropriate from time to time. Any operating policy adopted by the Board will continue to have force and effect until amended, repealed, or replaced by a subsequent resolution of the Board.

## 11.6 Invalidity of any Provision of This By-Law

The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this By-law shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions of this By-law.

### 11.7 **Repeal and Designation**

By-Law No. 1, a by-law of the Corporation passed on the 29<sup>th</sup> day of September, 2013, is repealed. This By-law is designated as By-Law No. 2 of the by-laws of the Corporation.

[The rest of this page is left intentionally blank]

ENACTED BY THE DIRECTORS	on the 14	th day of A	August, 2024.
--------------------------	-----------	-------------	---------------

**CONFIRMED BY THE MEMBERS WITHOUT VARIATION** on the 21<sup>st</sup> day of September, 2024.

Shirley Garland	Rohan Menon
Chair of the Board	Treasurer